## Beliefs and Behaviors of 40 Indigenous Sri Lankan Christian Leaders

Submitted to Regent University

School of Leadership Studies

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Organizational Leadership

Jeremy Christopher Kohomban

May 2005



UMI Number: 3188225

Copyright 2005 by Kohomban, Jeremy Christopher

All rights reserved.



#### UMI Microform 3188225

Copyright 2005 by ProQuest Information and Learning Company.
All rights reserved. This microform edition is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.

ProQuest Information and Learning Company 300 North Zeeb Road P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346



School of Leadership Studies

Regent University

This is to certify that the dissertation prepared by:

Jeremy Christopher Kohomban

Titled

# BELIEFS AND BEHAVIORS OF 40 INDIGENOUS SRI LANKAN CHRISTIAN LEADERS

Has been approved by his committee as satisfactory completion of the dissertation requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Michael Zigarelli, Ph.D., Committee Chair School of Business, Regent University

Michael Hartsfield, Ph.D., Committee Member School of Leadership Studies

Date

Kenneth Williams, Ph.D., Committee Member

Pastor, West Cobb Baptist Church

7-7-005 Date

Bruce Winston, Ph.D., Dean School of Leadership Studies

#### **Abstract**

This dissertation investigated the beliefs and behaviors of 40 indigenous Sri Lankan Christian leaders. Using survey data collected via the Christian Continuous Improvement Index (Zigarelli, 2002), the study found Sri Lankan leaders' beliefs and behaviors to be significantly different than the beliefs and behaviors of Christians worldwide. Further, the areas of significance were clustered in beliefs and behaviors that focused on the well-being of others, leading to a conclusion that Sri Lankan Christian leaders are practicing a compassionate style of leadership.



## Acknowledgements

I wish to acknowledge and dedicate this study to the people who made this journey possible:

To my mother, Rita Lane, for all she taught me about people, patience, loss, success, and life. She was always there for me and for everybody around us.

To my sons Nicholas (10) and Jordan (5) and to my daughter Abigail (3); they are my inspiration and my joy. To my wonderful wife, Lisa Dobson-Kohomban, who consistently supported me through this process and who never doubted that this day would come.

To my brother, Dilshan Kohomban, and sister, Niyomi Guiro, for sharing the incredible journey we have taken together from childhood to adulthood, from Sri Lanka to the United States, from loss and separation, to family and belonging.

To my sisters at home and my father and cousins for their help.

To my dear friend Randev Senanayakke; he was my sounding board during my challenging young-adult years and a teacher since. To my friends who began this journey with me, shared similar dreams, and would have wanted to be here to celebrate this day, but are no longer here.

To Dr. Michael Zigarelli for giving me this opportunity to learn and work with his data and his ideas, an experience that was more exciting than I could have ever have envisioned.



# Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Chapter 1 - Introduction	1
The Problem of the Study	<i>1</i>
The Significance of the Study	<i>1</i>
Background - The Historical Context of Christianity in Ceylon	2
Religious Pluralism in Sri Lanka - The Historical Context	5
Persecution of Christians in Sri Lanka	7
Chapter 2 – Literature Review	9
Differences in Persecution - Generalized and Government Sanctioned	9
Purposeful Leader Behavior Despite the Instability and Turbulence Caused by	
Persecution	13
Leadership Behavior - A Western/Asian Difference	15
Chapter 3 - Method	19
Selection of the Instrument	19
Validity and Reliability of the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002)	20
Beliefs and Behaviors Studied	
Sample Population and Location	23
Data Analysis	23
Ethical Considerations	23
Chapter 4 – Results and Findings	25
Sampling Frame and Respondents	25
Findings	25
Chapter 5 – Discussion	29
Introduction	29
Conclusions	30
Explanations	32
Recommendations	33
Limitations of the Study	34
Summary	35
References	36
Appendix A – CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) Version 2.0	44
Appendix B – Validity and Reliability Information for the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002)	50
Appendix C – CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) Translation in Sinhalese (Items 1-65 only)	53
Appendix D – Map of Sri Lanka with Area of Sample Shaded	57



# List of Tables

Table 1: CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) Items Chosen From the Survey	22
Table 2: Control and Sri Lankan Sample Demographics (Gender)	
Table 3: Control and Sri Lankan Sample Demographics (Years as Christian)	
Table 4: T-Test Results	26



#### Chapter 1 - Introduction

The Problem of the Study

Christian leaders facing active persecution from government and society in general are expected to exhibit beliefs and behaviors that are different than Christians in settings without persecution. Sri Lanka; a nation with a long history of European colonization, Christianity, and a constitutionally-guaranteed commitment to religious freedom; is today a nation where Christians are actively persecuted. This study explores leadership beliefs and behaviors among indigenous Sri Lankan Christian leaders. The study asks the question: Are the beliefs and behaviors of Sri Lankan Christian leaders different than the beliefs and behaviors of 5000 Christians worldwide? For this study, with its focus on leaders' beliefs and behaviors in an environment of turbulence and crisis, the Paglis and Green (2002) definition of leadership was adopted:

Leadership is the process of diagnosing where the work group is now and where it needs to be in the future, and formulating a strategy for getting there. Leadership also involves implementing change through developing a base of influence with followers, motivating them to commit to and work hard in pursuit of change goals, and working with them to overcome obstacles to change. (p. 217)

*The Significance of the Study* 

While much has been written of Christian leadership (Finzel, 2000) and reports of Christian leaders who have suffered persecution have been well publicized by advocacy and watchdog groups such as International Christian Concern, an extensive review of the literature found no empirical studies which have described Christian leadership belief and behavior while facing persecution. More specifically, a literature review conducted both



in the United States and locally in Sri Lanka found no studies of Sri Lankan Christian leaders. This study is the first to provide a quantitative assessment of Sri Lankan Christian leadership beliefs and behaviors. The study is significant for three reasons. First, it contributes to the scholarly research and literature by providing a quantitative study to the Sri Lankan church. Second, the study describes Christian leadership beliefs and behaviors when operating in an environment of active persecution. Finally, Christianity in Asia is growing and doing so despite persecution in a number of Asian nations. Yet, despite the growing Asian church, few studies have been conducted on Asian Christians (Meibohm, 1996). There has been clear recognition that indigenous leadership is best able to meet local need (Borthwick, 1999; Fox, 2002; Hoole, 1998; Jenkins, 2002; Phan, 1996); therefore, greater insight into local leadership beliefs and behaviors is critically needed.

Background - The Historical Context of Christianity in Ceylon

Sri Lanka (formerly Ceylon), an island of 25,322 square miles, is located in the Indian Ocean at the southern tip of the Indian subcontinent. The nation has a population of approximately 18.5 million people. Of this number, approximately 70% identify themselves as Buddhist, 15% Hindu, 8% Muslim, and 7% Christian (Anonymous, 2002b). Most Buddhists in Sri Lanka follow the Theravada tradition (Halverson, 1978). Nearly all Muslims in Sri Lanka are Sunnis. Among Christians in Sri Lanka, less than 1% identify themselves as evangelical Christians (Pranger, 2001).

Sri Lanka is a nation with a documented history dating back 2,000 years prior to the birth of Christ and was known to the ancient Greeks and Romans. Early Arab merchants "called it Serendib, inspiring the word 'serendipity,' the spirit of unexpected



and happy discoveries" (Vesilind, 1997, p. 112). To this day, Indians remember the island in their great epic called the Ramayana, a story which relates the abduction of the Indian princess Sita by Ravena King of Ceylon. In about 543 B.C., Wijeya, a Prince of North India, invaded Ceylon and conquered the natives known as Yakkos. Later, Prince Wijeya married the native princess Kuveni and settled in the country with about 700 of his followers. Over time, the island's proximity to ancient maritime trade routes, a towering rain forest with an abundance of wildlife, the availability of rare precious stones many of which are found nowhere else in the known world, and the discovery of exotic spices populated the nation with a diversity of people from all over the known world (Obeyesekere, 1999; Perniola, 1991; Tennent, 1850; Vesilind).

The roots of modern day Christianity in the country are generally attributed to the advent of Western colonization of Sri Lanka. The widely accepted historical reference dating the establishment of Christianity in Sri Lanka is the 1505 arrival of the Portuguese and their successful capture of the nation's maritime provinces (Francis, 1999; Obeyesekere, 1999; Perniola, 1991; Philip, 1998; Rajasingham, 2002; Tennent, 1850). However, traditions have suggested an even earlier Christian presence on the island. In his translation of Courtenay's 1913 work, *The History of Ceylon*, Francis claimed that St. Thomas the Apostle may have visited the island prior to his martyrdom on the Coromandel coast. He also pointed to an ancient tradition repeated by Arab traders, claiming that "one of the wise men of the East who came to Bethlehem...was a native of Ceylon" (p. 21). Tradition has also claimed that Ceylon "was part of the region of Ophir and Tarshish of the Hebrews, from which King Solomon's navy supplied him with gold and silver, ivory, apes, and peacocks" (Obeyesekere, p. 11). Nevertheless, despite the

traditions and a few reliable historical references, the date of Christianity's first arrival on the island is unknown though "...probably earlier than the sixth century...perhaps through the St. Thomas Christians in South" (Philip, 1998, p. 3). However, despite a possible precolonial Christian presence, Tennett (1850) stated that when the first European colonial armies invaded, there was no identifiable Christian community on the island. "On arrival of the Portuguese in A.D. 1505...the doctrines of Brahma and Buddhu were the prevailing religions respectively of the Tamils to the north and of the Sinhalese throughout the rest of the island" (Tennent, p. 12).

Beginning in 1505, on direction of the colonial authorities of Portugal,

Christianity was preached rapidly, beginning in the southern provinces and reaching the
northern parts of the country by 1544 (Perniola, 1991; Tennent, 1850). During the
Portuguese colonial campaigns, entire families and even the King of Ceylon converted to
Christianity (Francis, 1999; Obeyesekere, 1999; Perniola, 1991; Tennent). However,
Tennent pointed out that this "was the result of political conformity, and not of religious
conviction [sic]" (p. 71). During the Portuguese period, Sri Lankans embraced
Christianity as the official religion and often referred to themselves as "Christian
Buddhists or Government Christians – when we ask the people their religion, the
common reply is, we are of the government religion" (Davies, n.d.). "The Sinhalese term
for this operation was Christiani-karenewa, or Christian making" (Tennent, p. 74).

On May 28, 1602, the Dutch Admiral Spilbergen arrived on the island, introducing the Dutch conquest. By 1642, the reformed church of Holland had replaced the Roman Catholic Church of the Portuguese as the official church of the nation.



Conversion of the heathen was an official corporate goal for the Dutch East India Corporation (Tennent, 1850).

In 1672, France attempted to establish a base on the western coast of Sri Lanka. "A French Squadron, composed of 13 or 14 ships, made its appearance...under the command of Admiral De la Haye, the Viceroy of Madagascar" (Obeyesekere, 1999, p. 27). The French excursion in the country did not last long; and, unlike the Portuguese and the Dutch, the French did not impact Christianity in Sri Lanka.

However, 124 years following the aborted colonial incursion by the French, the British arrived. On February 12, 1796, Colonel Stewart of the British Navy moored his fleet on the Western coast of the country and attacked the Dutch colonial army. Within days of their landing, the British became the undisputed colonial rulers of the land (Tennent, 1850). With the British came the Methodist and Anglican missionaries. Their arrival introduced Christian denomination diversity to Sri Lanka. The teachings and traditions of the Methodists and Anglicans continue to influence Christianity in Sri Lanka to this day (Carter, 1979; Francis, 1999; Obeyesekere, 1999; Perniola, 1991, 2003; Tennent). No matter where we begin tracing the history of Christianity in Ceylon, be it from the 9th century or from the arrival of the Portuguese in 1505, it is clear that by the 19th century, the Christian Church in Sri Lanka was established and recognized as a "national institution" (Carter, p. 12).

Religious Pluralism in Sri Lanka - The Historical Context

Sri Lankan history documents a rich tradition of religious pluralism (Anonymous, 2004a). The earliest such record is from the 9th century, stating that "the king who then reigned permitted the free exercise of every religion" (Tennent, 1850, p. 112). The island



was home to many Jews, Moors, and many other sects (Tennent; Wikramanayake, 2002). With the defeat of the king and the advent of colonial rule, these religious freedoms continued and were upheld through various colonial dictates and treaties. The earliest of these colonial treaties was recorded in 1597, when at the death of the Emperor of Kotta (also known as King of Kotta and Emperor of Ceylon), the territory was bequeathed to Don Henry, King of Portugal. At the signing of the submission of the territory to the King of Portugal, a clause on religious freedom was inserted into the treaty (Tennent). On November 21, 1818, following the British victory against the Sinhalese, the issue of religious freedom was again addressed in Sections 16 and 21 of the proclamation of submission. Section 16 upheld the freedom of worship, and Section 21 exempted all religious properties "from all taxation whatever" (Obeyesekere, 1999, p. 82).

The Ceylon Independence Act of 1947, 129 years later, formalized the separation of Ceylon (Sri Lanka) from the British Crown. For the first time in 442 years, Ceylon (Sri Lanka) was once again a sovereign independent nation. On February 4, 1948, the Nation's Constitution was ratified, including explicit protections of religion. Article 10 of the Constitution of Sri Lanka provided every person the right to freedom of thought, conscience, and religion, including the freedom to have or adopt a religion or belief of his or her choice. Article 14(1)(e) of the Constitution granted every citizen the freedom of worship, observance, practice, and teaching of his or her religion or belief; in private or in public; either by himself or in association with others (Anonymous, 1948).

On December 10, 1948, the General Assembly of the United Nations adopted and proclaimed the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The Universal Declaration declared freedoms and protections in 30 separate articles, including the freedom of



thought, conscience, and religion. Ceylon (Sri Lanka), an early participant at the United Nations, agreed in full with the declaration and its protections and was an early signatory to the declaration (Anonymous, 2004a; Smith, 1978). In 1972, in response to growing nationalistic fervor, the Nation's official name was changed from Ceylon to Sri Lanka. *Persecution of Christians in Sri Lanka* 

For the past 20 years, Sri Lanka has fought a brutal terrorist war with the LTTE (Liberation Tamil Tigers of Elam), a terrorist insurgency demanding a separate state for the country's Tamil minority (Anonymous, 2002b). It has been estimated that over 60,000 people have been killed in this conflict, many from suicide bombings of civilians carried out by the terrorists (Anonymous, 2000). The LTTE has been proscribed, designated, or banned as a terrorist group by a number of governments including those of India, Malaysia, the UK, and Australia. More recently, on October 4, 2003, the United States redesignated the LTTE as a Foreign Terrorist Organization pursuant to Section 219 of the U.S. Immigration and Nationality Act (Anonymous, 2003). International Christian Concern has reported that Christians in the LTTE areas not only face extortion from the militants but sometimes also see their children kidnapped into the terrorist army (Anonymous, 2004b).

Meanwhile, in the South of the country, "as cultural nationalism gained momentum, more and more Sinhalese viewed Sri Lanka as an exclusive Sinhalese Buddhist, rather than a secular, multi-ethnic nation" (Coomaraswamy, 1986, p. 63). Pranger (2001) succinctly observed that "the Sinhala identity...remains firmly tied to Theravada Buddhism...to be Sinhala is to be Buddhist" (p. 169). Christians, many of whom are also Sinhalese, have found that "Buddhism-never intended by its founder as a



tool for any state-has been used for the legitimation of power" (Smith, 1978, p. 112). Since independence in 1948, there have been occasional attacks by Buddhists on Christians and Christian places of worship (Coomaraswamy; Hoole, 1998; Pranger; Prothero, 2001; Smith). In the late 1990s, these activities greatly accelerated, particularly against evangelical Christian denominations as witnessed by the attacks on church buildings and leaders (Anonymous, 2002b). In the first 4 months of 2004, there were 44 attacks on churches. Winkler (2004), in her recent essay on religious freedom, declared that "Sri Lanka is witnessing attacks on Christians at a rate far higher that the much noted wave of anti-Semitic violence in France" (p. 126). While increased attacks on Christians have been reported since the late 1990s, the events of 2004 pointed to an escalation in the violence with a new twist, the Sri Lankan government's tacit participation. The Sri Lankan government, instead of rising up and ensuring the constitutional guarantees of equal protection to Christians under the law, pandered to a small contingent of Buddhist demagogues and agreed to place limits on Christians (Anonymous, 2004a; Winkler). Winkler, writing for *The Weekly Standard*, put it more bluntly: "the government of Sri Lanka is advancing a novel cure. Although extremist Buddhists monks have often proved to be the instigators of the violence, the government –which depends on the support of the Buddhist nationalist —proposes to outlaw religious proselytizing" (p. 126). Two separate Bills, the Prohibition of Forcible Religious Conversion and the Act for the Protection of Religious Freedom, both aimed at Christians and approved by Government ministers, await final comment by the Supreme Court of Sri Lanka (Anonymous, 2004a; Winkler). By pandering to violent and vocal extremists, the Sri Lankan government has sanctioned the extremists' point of view, further escalating the persecution of Christians.



#### Chapter 2 – Literature Review

Differences in Persecution - Generalized and Government Sanctioned

Persecution is nothing new; it has been around since the early days of man. According to 2001 statistics, over 22 million people around the globe are refugees due to persecution on the grounds of religion, race, political opinion, and nationality (Beverlee, 2001). But, hidden in this general statistic of 22 million is a less well publicized fact: the grossly underreported story of the growing persecution of Christian minorities in many nations (Horowitz, 1997). The persecution of Christians is nothing new either. Today, 2 millennia after the birth of Christ, Christianity is the world's largest religion. It is estimated that over 2 billion people call themselves Christian. Nevertheless, persecution has been a part of Christianity throughout its history (Noll, 1997). Since the beginning of time, Christians have been outlawed, attacked, and victimized (Sullivan, Fonda, Murphy, & SimonLife, 1999). International Christian Concern's website (www.persecution.org) lists hundreds of instances of persecution; ranging from the expected persecution of Christians living in countries ruled by Islamic theocracy such as Saudi Arabia to the unexpected persecutions of Christians in countries like South Korea, often seen as the first Asian-Christian country (Anonymous, 2004b; Grayson, 2001).

However, when instances of persecution have been reported in Sri Lanka and other parts of Asia, these reports have been made in very general terms. Again, the fact that often gets lost in these generalized reports of persecution is that when government blatantly or tacitly sanctions persecution, the target is often the Christian leadership (Fang, 2001). To the Christian leader serving in the cultural context of government sanctioned persecution; every action, behavior, and statement made means greater risk.



"Suddenly, nothing can be taken for granted. Anything a Christian leader does can be misconstrued and made reason for persecution," claimed Pastor Titus Nanayakkara (2004, p. 2). Nanayakkara is no alarmist; an early convert from Buddhism to Christianity, he has recognized persecution and has never wavered. He is the Pastor of the first evangelical Christian church established over 40 years ago in Galle, Sri Lanka, the heartland of Sri Lanka's Buddhist south. In 1965, while Sunday service was in session, a mob from the local community burned down the church building. The church leaders and members escaped, rebuilt, and grew. Today, the Church in Galle is home to over 200 members, the majority of them Buddhist converts. These Christians in Galle represent all walks of life and are actively involved in their community. For them, and for Pastor Nanayakkara, the anxiety today is not that a local mob driven by religious passions would suddenly appear during Sunday service. Their anxiety is driven by the Sri Lankan government's attempt at legislated persecution (Anonymous, 2004a; Winkler, 2004). Pastor Nanayakkara's observation has been echoed with greater detail by Bishop Frank Marcus Fernando of Sri Lanka. Bishop Frank Marcus Fernando agreed that in Sri Lanka's turbulent cultural context, nothing can be taken for granted; even the simplest behavior of a Christian living an exemplary life can be punished (Anonymous, 2004a; Winkler). Further, Bishop Frank Marcus Fernando pointed out that in addition to the challenges of leading in this turbulent cultural context where 450 years of Christian understanding and acceptable Christian leadership behavior is destabilized, the Sri Lankan Government's action "can lead to the imprisonment of Priests, Pastors, Religious leaders and anyone engaged in Christian ministry" (Anonymous, 2004a, p. 42).



Christian leadership under persecution, leading in turbulent and destabilized cultural contexts, is not a uniquely Sri Lankan phenomenon. While the literature documenting Christianity in South Asia has been scanty (Meibohm, 1996), literature documenting state sanctioned persecution, similar to the Sri Lankan experience, while limited, does exist.

Much has been written of the turbulence experienced by the Chinese underground church and the persecution of its leaders (Fang, 2001). Bay Fang, reporting on the Christian underground church in China, has been blunt in his observation that "the government does not mind grass-roots worship too much. What it minds is leadership...because these evangelists are sent out and act as agents of growth" (p. 33). In Vietnam, the Communist party, the Nation's central governing body, is the official originator of persecution (Anonymous, 2001). In Lebanon, it is the Syrian government acting through its various surrogates, including the terrorist organization Hizbullah and the Syrian controlled Lebanese government, which persecutes the Maronite and Druze Christians. Maronite and Druze Christians once provided significant, stable leadership at all levels of government, including the presidency. However, since the Syrian occupation of Lebanon, Christian leaders have been pushed to the outer fringe of political and civic participation (Haddad, 2001). In Galillee, the leaders of the Palestine church have fallen victim to the ongoing battle between Arab militants and Israeli Defense Force actions. In a world that often forgets that not all Arabs are Muslims, the Palestinian Christian leaders' struggle has been a historic struggle. Their struggle has been one that is best recognized for leading in extreme turbulence and a destabilized cultural environment for over 2,000 years. Burge (2001) observed that "in the past two thousand years, the church

in Palestine has been free for less than eight hundred" (p. 16). To the West of Israel is Egypt, a land where historically Coptic Christians shared leadership alongside Arabs. Today, Coptic Christians live in a turbulent culture where Islamic militants see Coptics as a legitimate enemy. Government persecution has systematically barred Coptics from participation in the public sector. In Egypt, "there are currently no Christian governors, mayors or police chiefs" (Lewis, 2003, p. A8). In the Asian subcontinent and north of Sri Lanka, Pakistan's experience with state-sanctioned persecution seems to most closely resemble the unfolding of events in Sri Lanka. In Pakistan, Christian numbering less than 1% in a nation of 120 million Muslims lived in relative peace until the 1980s, when blasphemy laws were introduced by Pakistan's then military ruler Zia ul Haq. Following the introduction of the blasphemy laws, Christian leaders found that nothing could be taken for granted, any and every action could be interpreted as blasphemy. In Pakistan's turbulent environment and uncertainty, "merely stepping on a newspaper that contained a verse from the Koran could be construed as a blasphemy. Any blasphemy could be punishable by death" (Anonymous, 2002a, p. 71). Christian leaders found themselves often accused of blasphemy as unscrupulous persons used the laws as an opportunity to steal valuable land that belonged to the church (Anonymous, 2002a). Given the Pakistani Christian's experience with their blasphemy laws, one can imagine what would happen in Sri Lanka if the Supreme Court approved the Sri Lankan government's Prohibition of Forcible Religious Conversion Bill.



Purposeful Leader Behavior Despite the Instability and Turbulence Caused by Persecution

Day-to-day instability where one's normal behavior can be construed as criminal (Anonymous, 2004a; Bonhoeffer, 1953/1993; Nanayakkara, 2004; Vaill, 1989; Winkler, 2004) and a turbulent cultural context where one is unable to take anything for granted despite one's skills, learning, and past experience is the common experience of Christian leaders in nations where government-sanctioned persecution exists (Anonymous, 1997, 2002a, 2004a, 2004b; Burge, 2001; Fang, 2001; Haddad, 2001; Lewis, 2003; Nanayakkara; Phan, 1996; Smith, 1978; Vroom & Jansen, 1996; Winkler). Vaill, professor of Human Systems at George Washington University's School of Government and Business Administration and author of *Managing as a Performing Art*, coined the phrase "permanent white water" (p. 2) to describe a turbulent and destabilized context where "things one used to be able to take for granted, can no longer be viewed that way" (p. 3). However, he pointed out that while this condition is the norm, the successful leader is "...not behaving randomly or aimlessly. Intelligence, experience, and skills are being exercised, albeit in ways that we hardly know how to perceive, let alone describe" (p. 2). Vaill's observation has been supported in the literature. When in permanent white water, the successful leader rejects instinctive, random survival behavior and engages in purposeful behavior (Bruch & Ghoshal, 2004; Darling & Box, 1999; Fisher, 1999; Kash & Darling, 1998). Purposeful behavior can best be defined as leadership behavior that describes a compelling vision for the future and clearly articulates the steps to be taken to reach the stated goal (Cunningham, 1992). Studies from the corporate world have suggested that despite the known importance of purposeful leadership behavior, less than

10% percent of leaders engage in purposeful behavior (Bruch & Ghoshal). Yet, despite crisis, goals will only be achieved if organizational leaders engage in purposeful behavior by presenting clear goals and providing organizational support needed for goal achievement (Fisher). Anecdotal evidence has suggested that unlike in the corporate world, purposeful behavior among persecuted Christian leaders may be the norm. This anecdotal evidence has been gleaned from the reports of persecuted Christian leaders (Anonymous, 1997, 2004a; Burge; Fang, 2001; Haynes, 2002; Jensen, 2001; Langbert & Fridman, 2003; Nanayakkara; Thompson & McRae, 2001; Winkler) and can be seen in their commitment and conviction to suffer today for a better tomorrow. As best said by a Pastor of a secret seminary belonging to the Chinese underground Church describing their 6-year plan, "when the political situation changes, we'll build a seminary on a hundred acres of land, then we'll have 10,000 applicants, and only be able to take a thousand" (Fang, p. 39). These Christian leaders truly live Dietrich Bonhoeffer's (1953/1993) dramatic observation that "the Christian, belongs not in the seclusion of a cloistered life, but in the thick of foes" (p. 17). Langbert's and Fridman's study reviewing the various characteristics, philosophies, and behaviors of the Nesi'im (presidents/leaders) of the Jewish Sanhedrin also supported the premise that religious leaders targeted by persecution exhibit unique behaviors and purposefulness. The Nesi'im "faced incredible adversity: Hellenists, Sadducees, Greeks, Romans, the destruction of the Temple, and exile. Still they managed to...keep Judaism alive and see it outlast numerous opponents and survive despite the harshest decrees" (Langbert & Fridman, p. 204). The literature review found no other studies of Judeo-Christian leaders' beliefs and behaviors while facing state-sanctioned persecution.



Leadership Behavior - A Western/Asian Difference

Much has been written on the importance of leader behavior in general (Paglis, 2002; Yukl, 1998). While somewhat limited, some literature has discussed leadership behavior in turbulent economic environments (Boin & Hart, 2003; Calnan & Hirzel, 2004; Darling & Box, 1999; George, 2000; Seeger, Sellnow, & Ulmer, 1998; Vaill, 1989; Valle, 1999). Valle claimed that the "turbulent nature of the environment" (p. 245) in which organizations operate can best be described as an environment of crisis. Crisis, for the purpose of this study, is "a specific, unexpected and non-routine event or series of events that create high levels of uncertainty and threaten or are perceived to threaten an organization's high priority goals" (Seeger et al., p. 233). Unexpected and nonroutine events, threats, and high levels of uncertainty are the descriptions of day-to-day life shared by Christian leaders facing government-sanctioned persecution (Anonymous, 2002a, 2004a; Nanayakkara, 2004).

"Crisis and leadership are closely intertwined phenomena" (Boin & Hart, 2003, p. 558). In their review of multinational corporations that reported sustained growth while successfully navigating the crisis brought on by the turbulent economic whitewaters that began with the collapse of the Asian markets in 1998, Darling and Box (1999) identified unique leader behaviors responsible for corporate success. Their findings led them to postulate a new paradigm of leadership organized around three behavioral principals: (a) the care of customers, (b) innovation, and (c) developing committed people. Commenting further on the principal of developing committed people, the authors concluded that corporate success during economic turbulence was directly attributable to the leader's ability to create an atmosphere where each person in the corporation felt listened to,



trusted, valued, and respected (Darling & Box). There is no recovery from crisis if a leader ignores people, their safety, and their needs while navigating the crisis. Successful organizational recovery from crisis is not measured by the leader's ability to survive the crisis alone, but rather by the leader's ability to bring committed people into the postcrisis environment (Braverman, 2003). Developing committed people, particularly when in crisis, is never easy; yet, it can be accomplished and must be accomplished if the organization is to survive the crisis (Kash & Darling, 1998; Ulmer, 2001). The principal of developing committed people has been identified in the leadership behavior of successful Asian business leaders. In 1994, Taka and Foglia found Japanese business leaders to be more successful than their American counterparts in developing committed people. This success was attributed to the leader's willingness to listen to workers, the leader's respect for the worker's understanding of work-related issues, and the leader's ability to communicate respect for each worker's contribution (Taka & Foglia). Taka and Foglia claimed that these leadership behaviors seen in Japanese corporate leaders contrasted "...sharply with that often found in American corporations" (p. 143). The difference between Asian and American leadership behavior may not be limited to corporate leadership. There have been reports of other differences between Asian Christian leaders and their American and European colleagues. In his book, *The Coming* of Global Christianity, Jenkins (2002) postulated that the fast-growing Christian church in the third world; namely those Churches in Asia, Africa, and Latin American nations; will alter the current Christian status quo. A status quo where Christianity, a religion born in the East, is led and dominated by Western thought and cultural premise (Borthwick, 1999; Fox, 2002; Hoole, 1998; Jenkins; Lawton, 1997; Lehmann, 2002; Phan, 1996).



Jenkins also noted that the indigenous leaders of the fast-growing third world Church differ from the leaders of the Western Church. Elaborating further on these differences, Jenkins claimed that the Christian leaders of the third world Church are bolder in their commitments, more direct in their pronouncements, and more connected to people than the leaders of the Western Church. Fox, in his recent book *Pentecost in Asia: A New Way of Being Church*, pointed out a few other differences. Asian Christian leaders are more holistic in their approach; are more effective in connecting with the masses; are creating committed people; and are getting the job done despite the turbulence caused by debilitating poverty, authoritarian political leadership, violence, and persecution.

A review of the existing literature has pointed to the paucity of research on Asian Christians, especially regarding the subject of indigenous Asian Christian leadership (Meibohm, 1996). However, the rapid growth of the Asian Church and the continued impact of the Asian Church on global Christianity requires that we better understand Asian leadership (Fox, 2002; Jenkins, 2002; Lawton, 1997). Lawton, writing in *Christianity Today*, quantified the rapid growth of Asian Christianity. At the start of this century, 4% of the world's Christians were Asian. By 1997, that number rose to almost 20%. By 1997, the Asian church was home to 50% of the largest Christian congregations in the world. Yet, despite the growth of the Asian Church, the global Christian hierarchy, which is still predominately Western European (Borthwick, 1999; Fox; Jenkins; Lawton; Phan, 1996), continues to view native Asian Christian leaders as less than capable (Borthwick). One of the greatest challenges facing the Asian Church is their need to cultivate and develop indigenous leadership (Lawton).

This quantitative study provides a descriptive analysis of a population of indigenous Asian Christian leaders leading in an environment of active state-sanctioned persecution. The study describes significant beliefs and behaviors of indigenous Sri Lankan Christian leaders and investigates their development of committed people.



#### Chapter 3 - Method

Mark (1996) defined quantitative analysis as "an approach to research that relies on studying phenomena through the use of numerical means" (p. 401). The collection design is a one-shot case study, defined by Mark as a "research design in which a single individual, family, group, community or other unit is studied at one point in time" (p. 399). The study considers the generalizability of the results for the Asian Christian leadership population.

#### Selection of the Instrument

The research tool selected is the Christian Continuous Improvement Index (CCII) (Zigarelli, 2002) (see Appendix A). Surveys are a commonly applied descriptive research technique. Christensen (1988) defined a survey as a "method of collecting standardized information" (p. 46). Self-administered surveys have a number of distinct advantages as a data collection methodology. They are inexpensive, easy to administer, and relatively easy to distribute and score. Most importantly, self-administered surveys provide the respondent anonymity (Christensen; Mark, 1996).

The CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) is composed of 65 Likert-scale items. The majority of the items are descriptive statements of behaviors and feelings. Respondents indicate the extent to which they agree with the statements. For the first 13 statements, the respondents choose one of nine responses ranging from strongly disagree to strongly agree. Statements 14 through 65 ask respondents to indicate the extent to which each statement is true. The responses are cued to a nine-point continuum ranging from 1-2 = never true of me, 3-4 = rarely true of me, 5-6 = sometimes true of me, 7-8 = often true of

me, and 9 = always true of me. The CCII also contains nine demographic questions, bringing the total number of questions in the survey to 74.

*Validity and Reliability of the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002)* 

The creation of the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) was a developmental process. The CCII was validated via two approaches: traditional factor analysis and Cronbach's alpha. The factor analysis included the Scree tests, factor loading, and eigenvalues. The reliability analysis obtained alphas at or near the 0.7 level (Zigarelli, 2002). Two approaches tested validity: factor analysis and an evaluation of friends and family. See Appendix B for complete details.

Statistical analysis requires that the research question be presented in the form of a null hypothesis. The null hypothesis proclaims that events in question are due to chance. Thus, if statistical analysis rejects the null hypothesis at the required error level, the hypothesis that Sri Lankan Christian leaders beliefs and behaviors are different than those of Christian leaders worldwide will be accepted (Sprinthall, 1987).

H<sub>o</sub>: There are no statistically significant differences in the beliefs and behaviors of Sri Lankan Christian leaders and the beliefs and behaviors of Christian leaders worldwide.

Beliefs and Behaviors Studied

Twenty five questions from the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) have been selected to gauge the leaders' beliefs and behaviors. According to the Darling-Box paradigm of leadership (Darling & Box, 1999), one aspect of leadership success during economic turbulence was the leader's ability to create committed people. The paradigm proposes that a leader's ability to develop committed people is fundamental to the organization's



ability to survive an environment of turbulence and crisis (Darling & Box). Calnan and Hirzel (2004) reported that successful leaders are strategic in their choice of behavior and that they carefully choose behaviors that encourage commitment in people. Gunn (2002), writing in the journal Strategic Finance, stated that successful leaders develop committed people through leadership behaviors that demonstrate understanding, gratitude, kindness, forgiveness, and compassion. Brown (1992), writing in the Journal of Leadership and Organizational Development, supported Gunn's statement and added cultural sensitivity as a requirement to developing committed people. The literature on leader behavior has presented broad consensus on the need for developing committed people (Darling & Box; Fox, 2002; Gunn; Kash & Darling, 1998). Further, the literature has supported the observations of Darling and Box, Hirzel, and Gunn by recognition that successful leaders develop committed people by choosing certain behaviors over others (Brown; Calnan & Hirzel; De Pree, 1992; Malphurs, 1998; Peters & Waterman, 1982). This study describes beliefs and behaviors that indigenous Sri Lankan Christian leaders practice as they strive to develop committed people. To understand the leaders' beliefs and behaviors that contribute to developing committed people, 26 items from the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) were chosen.

Table 1

CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) Items Chosen From the Survey

CCII Item	Survey Statement
3	It is a priority for me to help people who have less in life than I do
7	I enjoy giving away my money
8	Learning about others' pain is a valuable use of my time
9	It is easy for me to love other people
16	I am a gentle person when dealing with others
18	I feel a strong compassion for those who do not have much in life
19	I smile a lot when I'm around other people
21	I give thanks to God throughout my day
24	I enjoy helping others
26	When I get angry, I release that anger properly
28	I am a patient person
29	My actions show that I am grateful for the people in my life (family,
33	friends, coworkers, etc.) When I hear or read about some tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims
36	I volunteer my time to serve people outside my household
39	When in a group of people, I tend to listen before speaking
41	When I pray, I pray for the poor
42	I forgive those who hurt me
43	I wake up thinking more about what I don't have than what I do have.
47	I get along well with difficult people
54	I keep my composure even when people or circumstances irritate me
53	I donate my time or money to help the needy
55	I am a forgiving person
56	I give to others expecting nothing in return
57	I enjoy buying gifts for other people
58	I act as if other people's needs are more important than my own
64	I worry about the suffering of other people

## Sample Population and Location

For the Sri Lankan sample, data were collected from 40 indigenous Sri Lanka Christian Leaders. The request for participation was made through established Christian organizations, and participation was entirely voluntary. The CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) was explained, and each leader was given the opportunity to respond in private.

The comparison group data come from 5,000 Christians who responded to the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) online at <a href="http://www.assess-yourself.org">http://www.assess-yourself.org</a>. Zigarelli (2002) described this sample as age 16 or older, from all 50 states and nearly 60 countries. Almost 90% of the responses came from persons residing in the United States. Additionally, 59% of the sample were female, 17% black, 72% white, 4% Asian, 2% Hispanic, and 5% listed their race as "other." Participants' responses to the question "years as Christian" yielded a minimum of 1 year and a maximum of 84 years.

The independent sample t test for samples of unequal size with an alpha threshold set at p<.05 was performed for each item measured. Measures of central tendency for all items were also determined. Measures of central tendency describe the average or typical score of a large number of scores (Sprinthall, 1987). All statistics were determined using SPSS version 8 or Microsoft Excel.

## **Ethical Considerations**

Data Analysis

In order to ensure ethical procedures and provide the respondents with informed consent; the purpose of the research, the background of the researcher, procedures, and outcomes were explained to participants. The research was conducted not only in the interest of the researcher but also in the interest of the participants, with the stated



objective of contributing to the knowledge base describing indigenous Christian leadership in Sri Lanka.

Potential participants were given adequate opportunity to review the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002); and, since many participants were nonnative English speakers, questions with regard to specific meanings of words and phrases in the CCII were encouraged. Each question was answered in both English and Sinhalese (Appendix C provides the Sinhalese translation of the CCII). Participants were also encouraged to withdraw at any point in the process if so needed; however, not one withdrew.

The participants were assured that their names and responses would not be disclosed and that all questions and data would be held in the strictest confidence. To ensure anonymity, participants were asked not to sign their names to the completed survey. Finally, participants were assured that the data would only be presented in aggregate and that the final report would be made available to each respondent.

#### Chapter 4 – Results and Findings

Sampling Frame and Respondents

This chapter presents a descriptive analysis of the sampling frame and the actual response rates of the sample. Of the Sri Lankan sample, the majority of the respondents were male (95%). The respondents ranged in age from 18 to 67. Their response to the question "years as Christian" yielded a minimum of 2 years and a maximum of 54 years.

Table 2

Control and Sri Lankan Sample Demographics (Gender)

	Worldwide Sample ( <i>N</i> =5011)	Sri Lankan Sample ( <i>N</i> =40)
Male	40.3%	95%
Female	59.7%	5%

Table 3

Control and Sri Lankan Sample Demographics (Years as Christian)

	Worldwide Sample ( <i>N</i> =5011)			Sri Lankan Sample ( <i>N</i> =40)				
	Mean	SD	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Min.	Max.
Age	34.80	12.90	18	85	34.92	15.60	18	67
Yrs. Christian	18.47	13.77	1	84	23.35	14.53	2	54

#### **Findings**

This study explored the question of whether Sri Lankan Christian leaders' beliefs and behaviors significantly differ from those of Christian leaders worldwide. The findings rejected the null hypothesis for 5 of the 26 CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) items surveyed. Items 3, 33, 41, 56, and 64 yielded statistical significance (p< .05) in the



independent sample t test conducted between the Sri Lankan sample (N=40) and the worldwide sample (N=5011). In each of the five areas of significance observed, the sample mean difference is much larger than can be explained by random variability. Thus, the magnitude of the mean difference leads to the conclusion that the result is both of statistical significance and of practical importance.

Table 4

T-Test Results

CCII		Mean Sri Lankan	Mean Worldwide	_	Significance
Item	Survey Statement	Sample	Sample	p value	Significance
		(Std. Error Mean)	(Std. Error Mean)		
3	It is a priority for	7.45	6.66	.004	*
	me to help people	(.22)	(.0242)		
	who have less in				
	life than I do				
7	I enjoy giving away	6.43	5.90	.097	
	my money	(.36)	(.0280)		
8	Learning about	7.03	6.44	.053	
	others' pain is a	(.27)	(.0269)		
	valuable use of my				
	time				
9	It is easy for me to	7.08	6.66	.151	
	love other people	(.26)	(.0257)		
16	I am a gentle	7.13	6.63	.119	
	person when	(.31)	(.0217)		
	dealing with others				
18	I feel a strong	7.10	7.01	.718	
	compassion for	(.28)	(.0231)		
	those who do not				
	have much in life				
19	I smile a lot when	6.83	7.02	.590	
	I'm around other	(.36)	(.0244)		
	people				
21	I give thanks to	6.95	6.55	.162	
	God throughout my	(.35)	(.0255)		
	day				
24	I enjoy helping	7.68	7.47	.434	
	others	(.26)	(.0191)		
26	When I get angry, I	5.50	5.73	.555	
	·				

release that anger properly  28 I am a patient 6.23 5.92 2.84 person (.30) (.0253)  29 My actions show 6.98 6.67 .237 that I am grateful (.30) (.0228) for the people in my life (family, friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235) tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time 6.43 5.83 .086 to serve people (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
person (.30) (.0253)  29 My actions show (6.98
29 My actions show that I am grateful (.30) (.0228) for the people in my life (family, friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235) tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray (.35) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well (.36) (.0229) even the proof (.29) (.0282)  53 I keep my (.29) (.0282)
that I am grateful for the people in my life (family, friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read 7.88 7.80 .003 * about some (.20) (.0235) tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time 6.43 5.83 .086 to serve people (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
for the people in my life (family, friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235)  tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time (.31) (.0308)  outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 (.77) (.0240)  listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray (.36) (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking (.36) (.0263) (.0263) (.000't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well (.36) (.0229) (.0282)
my life (family, friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235) tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray (.37) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking (.36) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my (.29) (.0282)
friends, co-workers, etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235)  tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time 6.43 5.83 .086 to serve people (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
etc.)  33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235)  tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time (.31) (.0308)
33 When I hear or read about some (.20) (.0235)  tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time to serve people (.31) (.0308
about some tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time to serve people (.31) (.0308) (.03
tragedy, my heart breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time to serve people (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking more about what I (.32) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well with difficult people  53 I keep my composure even (.29) (.0308) 0.086 0.0240 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0240) 0.0252
breaks for the victims  36 I volunteer my time 6.43 5.83 .086 to serve people (.31) (.0308) outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
victims         36 I volunteer my time to serve people outside my household       (.31)       (.0308)       .086         39 When in a group of people, I tend to listen before speaking       (.29)       (.0240)       .252         41 When I pray, I pray for the poor (.40)       (.0290)       .479       .000       *         42 I forgive those who hurt me (.37)       (.0290)       .409       .409       .409       .409         43 I wake up thinking more about what I (.32)       (.0263)       .267       .267       .267       .267       .27       .
36 I volunteer my time to serve people outside my household       (.31)       (.0308)       .086         39 When in a group of people, I tend to listen before speaking       (.29)       (.0240)       .252         41 When I pray, I pray for the poor (.40)       (.0290)       *         42 I forgive those who hurt me (.37)       (.0235)       .409         43 I wake up thinking more about what I (.32)       (.0263)       .267         47 I get along well what I do have.       5.65       5.94       .429         47 I get along well people       5.90       5.51       .217         53 I keep my composure even (.29)       (.0282)
to serve people outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
outside my household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
household  39 When in a group of 7.08 6.77 .252 people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) listen before speaking  41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290)  42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235)  43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
39 When in a group of people, I tend to (.29) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0240) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0250) (.0263)
people, I tend to listen before speaking 41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have. 47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
listen before speaking 41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have. 47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
speaking 41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have. 47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
41 When I pray, I pray 6.35 4.79 .000 * for the poor (.40) (.0290) 42 I forgive those who 6.30 6.61 .409 hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have. 47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
42 I forgive those who hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have. 47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
hurt me (.37) (.0235) 43 I wake up thinking 3.63 3.30 .267 more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
43 I wake up thinking more about what I don't have than what I do have.       3.63 (.0263)         47 I get along well with difficult people       5.65 (.0229)         53 I keep my composure even       5.90 (.0282)
more about what I (.32) (.0263) don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
don't have than what I do have.  47 I get along well with difficult people  53 I keep my composure even  5.90 (.0229) (.0229) (.0229) (.0229) (.0229) (.0229) (.0229)
what I do have.  47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
47 I get along well 5.65 5.94 .429 with difficult (.36) (.0229) people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
with difficult (.36) (.0229) people  53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
people 53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
53 I keep my 5.90 5.51 .217 composure even (.29) (.0282)
composure even (.29) (.0282)
when people or
circumstances
irritate me
54 I donate my time or 6.08 6.20 .617
money to help the (.27) (.0217)
needy
55 I am a forgiving 7.18 6.92 .308
person (.29) (.0221)
56 I give to others 7.73 6.92 .001 *
expecting nothing (.27) (.0220)

in return				
57 I enjoy buying gifts	6.43	7.33	.020	
for other people	(.37)	(.0234)		
58 I act as if other	5.68	6.29	.140	
people's needs are more important than my own	(.41)	(.0244)		
64 I worry about the	7.28	6.58	.014	*
suffering of other people	(.28)	(.0251)		

#### Chapter 5 – Discussion

#### Introduction

Lawton (1997) stated that

Christian leaders in Asia are applying a more holistic vision to how their faith impacts all areas of life, including poverty, justice issues, and politics...they are conscious of oppression and injustices in their own lands and understand the role that they can play in their own countries so they can be part of the process of transforming their societies... (p. 42).

This study focused on understanding the indigenous Sri Lankan Christian leaders' beliefs and behaviors as they lead in an arena of active persecution. Specifically, the research used the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) as a measurement tool to understand these beliefs and behaviors.

Chapter 1 described Ceylon, as Sri Lanka was known during the colonial period, and presented the introduction of Christianity to this island nation. Chapter 1 also described the development of Christianity in Sri Lanka and presented that today, for the first time in history, Sri Lankan Christians face the real possibility that the practice of their faith as portrayed in their day-to-day beliefs and behaviors could be proscribed by the Sri Lankan government (Anonymous, 2004a; Winkler, 2004).

The need for this study was established through the research threads developed in Chapter 2. These research threads described three theoretical foundations: (a) there are differences in persecution, notably persecution blatantly or tacitly sanctioned by government targeting Christian leaders; (b) purposeful leader behavior despite persecution is a documented phenomenon, becoming even more strategic and goal



oriented; and (c) there is a Western/Asian difference in leadership behavior, notably that Asian leaders are known to be more focused on creating committed people.

The purpose of this study was to determine whether there is a statistically significant difference in the beliefs and behaviors of indigenous Sri Lankan Christians leaders when compared to Christian leaders worldwide.

#### **Conclusions**

"God is revealed in the world precisely in those places that the world is most prone to ignore: in suffering, rejection, and scorn" (Jensen, 2001, p. 157). There is a clear theme in the areas of significance revealed; it is the theme of the leader's concern for his or her people. "I want to help others who have less;" "I pray for the poor;" "My heart breaks for victims of tragedy;" "I worry about the sufferings of others;" and "I give expecting nothing in return."

A recent study on organizational behavior identified the steps taken in the process to develop organizational compassion. The authors found noticing pain, emotionally connecting to the pain, and taking action in response to the pain to be the process that develops organizational compassion (Kanov, Maitlis, Worline, & Dutton, 2004). This study found Sri Lankan leaders following closely the steps identified by Kanov et al. The Sri Lankan leader notices pain and recognizes those who have less and who are poor. The Sri Lankan leader is emotionally impacted by what he or she sees, and his or her heart is broken. Finally, the Sri Lankan leader acts in response to the pain, and he or she gives expecting nothing in return. Raelin (2004), the Asa S. Kowles Chair of Practice-Oriented Education at Northeastern University, identified leaders who engage in the process identified by Kanov et al. as leaders who are practicing compassionate leadership. Raelin



further pointed out that, to the organization operating in a turbulent environment, compassionate leadership is not a choice but a requirement. Compassionate leadership, while not yet widely studied and analyzed (Raelin), finds support in the literature (Briner & Pritchard, 1997; Filipczak, Gordon, Hequet, & Stamps, 1997). In Briner and Pritchard's article *Compassionate Leadership*, they claimed:

Enduring leadership, the kind that makes a positive long-range difference, is characterized by compassion...leaders have special relationships with their followers and special responsibilities to them. When a leader beckons someone to follow, he or she asks to be responsible for an aspect of that person's life" (p. 6).

A Cornell University survey of Fortune 1,000 leaders revealed that the "business leader of tomorrow will be a compassionate soul who cares about the...welfare of their workers..." (Filipczak et al., p. 16). Among the Sri Lankan Christian leaders studied, compassion for their followers, and possibly for people in general, seems to be the genuine heart-cry. Compassion is what delineates these Sri Lankan leaders from the worldwide sample of Christians studied. Certainly, this is a remarkable finding since none of these leaders is immune to the debilitating effects of poverty, tragedy, and sufferings. As Christian leaders, they are the target of persecution. They are indigenous leaders and, thus, are not typically from wealthy backgrounds. They understand poverty because they live it. Furthermore, national tragedies such as the hundreds of suicide bombings by terrorists and the recent tsunami have been indiscriminate, showering suffering and tragedy on everyone equally.

# **Explanations**

"Show me thy faith apart from thy works, and I by my works shall show thee my faith" (James 2:18, American Standard Version). A partial explanation for compassionate leadership attributes identified in this study can be found in the collectivist character of Sri Lankan culture (Niles, 1999). Collectivist leaders view self as interdependent with others (Triandis, 1999). Therefore, the collectivist leader is driven to find success for the group rather than self. A recent study clearly identified the intersection between collectivist behavior and faith in Sri Lanka. The cross-cultural study interviewed over 100 community and religious leaders in Indonesia, Sri Lanka, Thailand, and Pakistan. The study found that among Sri Lankan leaders, faith was the foundation to their leadership in community and social service activities (Candland, 2000).

Another explanation for the finding can be found in the experience of the Black community in the United States. The Black community in the United States suffered great oppression through the slavery that began in the early days of colonization. However, a recent study of seven Black church congregations found that religious expression and ingroup expectations among Blacks enabled the community to persevere, survive, and flourish. Within the Black church, members found compassion, support, guidance, resources, protection, and justice; the church was a place of belonging and a place where the victim could become the witness (Thompson & McRae, 2001). Zigarelli (2002), in his study of Christians worldwide, found people who identified themselves as "black" to be more grateful than other racial/ethnic groups.

Thompson and McRae (2001) found that poor, oppressed, and persecuted peoples gather as a group to find safety, support, and protection under the leadership of the



church. The findings in this study may point to a connection between persecution, oppression, gratitude, and leadership. It is possible that persecuted, oppressed groups do not simply form themselves, rather they are drawn together by compassionate leaders' beliefs and behaviors. The leaders' beliefs and behaviors may act as magnets among the poor, oppressed, and persecuted; bringing them together and holding them together.

While this study was limited to understanding leaders' beliefs and behaviors, there is reason to speculate that the Sri Lankan Christian leader, leading in an environment of active persecution, is behaving much like the Black church leaders did by creating committed people through compassionate leadership.

In Asia, Christianity finds its strongest support among the downtrodden, poor, and persecuted (Ricci & Cox, 1997). This study suggests that to the Sri Lankan Christian leader, "Jesus, in short, is the crucified people!, Jesus means the crucified people. To know Jesus is to know crucified people" (Phan, 1996, p. 412). Christian social activism focuses on the victims in society (Henry, 2003). The Sri Lankan Christian leader is not only broken by the tragedies that befall people, he or she worries about their continued suffering, prays for relief, and has made it a priority to help the victims with no expectation of return.

#### Recommendations

First, there should be a longitudinal assessment of Sri Lankan Christian leaders. There is much to be learned from the Sri Lankan experience. The ongoing persecution of the Christian Church and its leadership will not abate in the near future. Despite the risks, indications are that Sri Lankan Christian leaders are focused on their followers and committed to the well-being of their people. A longitudinal study could further illuminate

the activities of these leaders as they practice compassionate leadership and create committed people.

Commentators have long claimed that Christian leaders in Asia have not developed an Asian theology and that they have not embraced Asian cultural practice, thereby creating a picture of a Western religion on Eastern soil. Phan (1996) noted:

There has been a reluctance to break the pot in which Western Christianity has grown and to let the Christian tree strike its roots deep in the Asian humus to become a native plant instead of growing like a stunted bonsai. (p. 414)

This study suggests otherwise. The Asian Christian leader is different from the Western Christian leader. The Asian leader is in tune with his or her followers and is one in their suffering and tragedy. This message of success must be built on and disseminated among Asian Christians. Asian Christians must begin to hear the other side of the story; Christianity is at home in Asia! The followers of the Asiatic Jew who was born in Palestine are practicing one of the most admirable characteristics of their leader: compassionate leadership (Briner & Pritchard, 1997). Christianity is now a native plant with roots deep in culture and society. Asian Christian leaders should not so readily accept the label of an outsider speaking Western values and preaching a Western religion. Limitations of the Study

There are a number of limitations to this study. This research may be limited in its generalizability due to the disproportionately small Sri Lankan sample. Also, almost 90% of the worldwide sample respondents completed the survey via a web-based application. Using a web-based survey not only ensured accuracy (subjects had to click on a radio box in each section to advance the page), but it also expedited the data collection process. In



comparison, 100% of the Sri Lankan data were collected via a pen-and-paper survey tool. There were numerous occasions when a respondent made an error in response and needed correction or a respondent simply returned to a prior answer to modify his or her response. Finally, the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) is a self-report tool and, therefore, susceptible to individual, systematic response distortion.

### *Summary*

This study makes an important contribution to the body of knowledge describing indigenous Asian Christian leaders. The study also provides a quantitative assessment of belief and behavior and establishes the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) as a tool that can be used for further study in the area of leaders' beliefs and behaviors. Specifically, the study introduces the concept of compassionate leadership as a significant characteristic in the beliefs and behaviors of Sri Lankan Christian leaders. This finding provides a beginning and a more focused area for future research and analysis of Christian leaders' beliefs and behaviors.

#### References

- Anonymous. (1948). The constitution of Ceylon. Colombo, Sri Lanka: Ceylon Printing Press.
- Anonymous. (1997, August 8). Underground Christians are persecuted in China. *The Wall Street Journal*, p. A13.
- Anonymous. (2000). Leaders: Sri Lanka votes and hopes. The Economist, 357(8191), 23.
- Anonymous. (2001). Asia: A violent mix, land and religion. *The Economist*, 359(8216), 42.
- Anonymous. (2002a, March 23). Asia: Christians as targets; Pakistan. *The Economist*, 362, 71.
- Anonymous. (2002b). *International Religious Freedom Report 2002, Sri Lanka*.

  Retrieved December 1, 2003, from

  <a href="http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/irf/2002/14027.htm">http://www.state.gov/g/drl/rls/irf/2002/14027.htm</a>
- Anonymous. (2003). *Patterns of global terrorism 2003*. Retrieved January 12, 2005, from <a href="http://www.state.gov/s/ct/rls/pgtrpt/2003/">http://www.state.gov/s/ct/rls/pgtrpt/2003/</a>
- Anonymous. (2004a, July 15). Diocese concerned over anti conversion bill. *The Daily News*, p. 42.
- Anonymous. (2004b, January 11). *News on Christian persecution*. Retrieved January 12, 2005, from <a href="http://www.persecution.org">http://www.persecution.org</a>
- Beverlee, B. (2001). Toward mediating the impact of forced migration and displacement among children affected by armed conflict. *The Journal of International Affairs*, 55(1), 35.



- Boin, A., & Hart, P. T. (2003). Public leadership in times of crisis: Mission impossible? *Public Administration Review*, 63(5), 544-553.
- Bonhoeffer, D. (1993). *Life together* (J. W. Doberstein, Trans.). New York: Harper & Row. (Original work published 1953)
- Borthwick, P. (1999). Cross-cultural outreach: A missiological perspective on youth ministry. *Christian Education Journal*, *3*(2), 63-77.
- Braverman, M. (2003). Managing the human impact of crisis. *Risk Management*, 50(5), 10-14.
- Briner, B., & Pritchard, R. (1997). Compassionate leadership. *Executive Excellence*, 14(9), 6.
- Brown, A. (1992). Organizational culture: The key to effective leadership. *Leadership* and *Organizational Development*, 13(2), 3-7.
- Bruch, H., & Ghoshal, S. (2004). The bold, decisive manager: Cultivating a company of action-takers. *Ivey Business Journal Online*, 1, 9-11.
- Burge, G. M. (2001). Learning from Middle East churches. *The Christian Century*, 118(16), 16-18.
- Calnan, J., & Hirzel, R. (2004). New dimensions in leadership. *Quality Congress*, 58, 381-384.
- Candland, C. (2000). Faith as social capital: Religion and community development in Southern Asia. *Policy Sciences*, *33*(34), 355-369.
- Carter, J. R. (1979). *Religiousness in Sri Lanka* (16th ed.). Colombo, Sri Lanka: Marga Institute.
- Christensen, L. B. (1988). Experimental methodology (4th ed.). Boston: Allyn and Bacon.



- Coomaraswamy, R. (1986). Sri Lanka: The crisis of the Anglo-American constitutional traditions in a developing society. New Delhi, India: Vikas.
- Cunningham, J. B. (1992). Theory can be practical: How managers develop their skills.

  Leadership and Organizational Development, 13(4), 20.
- Darling, J. R., & Box, T. M. (1999). Keys for success in the leadership of multinational corporations. *Advanced Management Journal*, *64*(4), 16-20.
- Davies, J. (n.d.). *Baptist Mission Notes*. (Available from the Colombo Historical Archives, Colombo, Sri Lanka).
- De Pree, M. (1992). Leadership jazz. New York: Currency-Doubleday.
- Fang, B. (2001, April 30). China's Christian underground. *U.S. News and World Report*, 130, 32-35.
- Filipczak, B., Gordon, J., Hequet, M., & Stamps, D. (1997). Cue the compassionate CEO. *Training*, 34(1), 16.
- Finzel, H. (2000). *The top ten mistakes leaders make*. Colorado Springs, CO: Cook Communications.
- Fisher, J. R. J. (1999). What will it take to transform your organization in the 21st century? *The Journal for Quality and Participation*, 22(6), 6-13.
- Fox, T. C. (2002). *Pentecost in Asia: A new way of being church*. Ossining, NY: Orbis Books.
- Francis, M. G. (1999). *History of Ceylon: An abridged translation of Pro. Peter Coutrenay's work* (1st ed.). Mangalore, India: J. Jetley.
- George, J. M. (2000). Emotions and leadership: The role of emotional intelligence.

  Human Relations, 53(8), 1027-1005.



- Grayson, J. H. (2001). Cultural encounter: Korean protestantism and other religious traditions. *International Bulletin of Missionary Research*, 25(2), 66-68.
- Gunn, B. (2002). Leading with compassion. Strategic Finance, 83(12), 10-12.
- Haddad, S. (2001). The Christians of Lebanon in context of a Syrian-Israeli political relations. *The Journal of Social, Political, and Economic Studies*, 26(3), 589-624.
- Halverson, J. (1978). Religion and psychosocial development in Sinhalese Buddhism. *Journal of Asian Studies*, *37*(2), 221-233.
- Haynes, S. R. (2002). Who needs enemies? Jews and Judaism in anti-Nazi religious discourse. *Church History*, 71(2), 341-367.
- Henry, V. (2003). New Christian social activims: Gleanings! *Religious Studies and Theology*, 22(2), 120-137.
- Hoole, C. R. A. (1998). Church-state relations in Sri Lanka: Historical process and contemporary options. *The Journal of Church and State*, 40(1), 107-123.
- Horowitz, M. (1997). Continuing Christian persecution. *Vital Speeches of the Day, 63*, 466.
- Jenkins, P. (2002). *The coming of global Christianity*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Jensen, D. H. (2001). Religionless Christianity and vulnerable discipleship: The interfaith promise of Bonhoeffer's theology. *Journal of Ecumenical Studies*, *38*(2/3), 151-167.
- Kanov, J. M., Maitlis, S., Worline, M. C., & Dutton, J. E. (2004). Compassion in organizational life. *The American Behavioral Scientist*, 47(6), 808-821.



- Kash, T. J., & Darling, J. R. (1998). Crisis management: Prevention, diagnosis and intervention. *Leadership and Organizational Development*, 19(4), 179-186.
- Langbert, M., & Fridman, H. (2003). Perspectives on transformational leadership in the Sanhedrin of ancient Judaism. *Management Decision*, 41(1/2), 199-207.
- Lawton, K. A. (1997). Faith without borders. *Christianity Today*, 41(6), 38-46.
- Lehmann, H. (2002). The history of twentieth-century Christianity as a challenge for historians. *Church History*, 71(3), 585-596.
- Lewis, J. E. (2003, December 24). The coptic path. *The Wall Street Journal*, p. A8.
- Malphurs, A. (1998). Values-driven leadership: Discovering and developing your core values for ministry. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books.
- Mark, R. (1996). Research made simple: A handbook for social workers. London: Sage.
- Meibohm, M. (1996). Review: The Christians of Karala; History, belief and ritual among the Yakoba. *Journal of Asian Studies*, 55(4), 1054-1055.
- Nanayakkara, T. (2004, Fall). Message from the church in Galle. *News from Sri Lanka*, *3*, pp. 1-2.
- Niles, F. S. (1999). Towards a cross-cultural understanding of work-related beliefs. *Human Relations*, 52(7), 855-867.
- Noll, M. A. (1997). *Turning points: Decisive moments in the history of Christianity* (2nd ed.). Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic.
- Obeyesekere, D. (1999). Outlines of Ceylon history. New Delhi, India: J. Jetley.
- Paglis, L. L., & Green, S. G. (2002). Leadership self-efficacy and managers' motivation for leading change. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 23(2), 215-235.



- Perniola, S. J. V. (1991). *The Catholic church in Sri Lanka: The Portuguese period* (1st ed., Vol. III). Colombo, Sri Lanka: Tisara Prakasakayo.
- Perniola, S. J. V. (2003). *The Catholic church in Sri Lanka: The British period 1883-1886* (Vol. VII). Colombo, Sri Lanka: Tisara Prakasakayo.
- Peters, T. J., & Waterman, R. H. J. (1982). *In search of excellence: Lessons from America's best run companies*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Phan, P. C. (1996). Jesus the Christ with an Asian face. *Theological Studies*, 57, 399-431.
- Philip, T. V. (1998). *Christianity in other places in Asia*. Retrieved December 1, 2004, from http://www.religion-online.org
- Pranger, J. H. (2001). Culture, ethnicity, and inculturation: Critical and constructive comments in relation to Sri Lankan contextual theology. *Mission Studies*, *17*(1-35), 154-180.
- Prothero, S. (2001). Henry Steel Olcott and Protestant Buddhism. *Journal of the Academy of Religion*, 63(2), 281-302.
- Raelin, J. (2004). *The "Bottom Line" of leaderful practice*. Retrieved April 15, 2005, from <a href="http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=53585109&Fmt=4&clientid-3927&rqt=309&VName=PQD">http://proquest.umi.com/pqdweb?did=53585109&Fmt=4&clientid-3927&rqt=309&VName=PQD</a>
- Rajasingham, K. T. (2002, December 1). Was one of the magi, a king from Lanka?

  Retrieved December 1, 2004, from <a href="http://www.bahamaswriter.com/magi.htm">http://www.bahamaswriter.com/magi.htm</a>
- Ricci, M., & Cox, H. (1997, December 19). In search of an Asian path. *Asiaweek*, p. 1.
- Seeger, M. W., Sellnow, T. L., & Ulmer, R. R. (Eds.). (1998). *Communication, organization and crisis* (Vol. 21). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.



- Smith, B. L. (Ed.). (1978). *Religion and the legitimation of power in Sri Lanka* (1st ed.). Chambersburg, PA: Anima Books.
- Sprinthall, R. C. (1987). *Basic statistical analysis* (2nd ed.). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Sullivan, R., Fonda, D., Murphy, M., & SimonLife, J. (1999, September). Religion: 2000 years of Christianity; The real story of the millennium: A religion bruised, battered and divided survives as the world's largest. *Time Inc.*, *32*, 142.
- Taka, I., & Foglia, W. (1994). Ethical aspects of 'Japanese leadership style'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 13(2), 135-149.
- Tennent, J. E. (1850). Christianity in Ceylon. London: John Murray.
- Thompson, D. A., & McRae, M. B. (2001). The need to belong: A theory of the therapeutic function of the Black Church tradition. *Counseling and Values*, 46(1), 40-53.
- Triandis, H. C. (1999). Cross-cultural psychology. *Asian journal of Social Psychology*, 2, 127-143.
- Ulmer, R. R. (2001). Effective crisis management through established stakeholder relationships. *Management Communication Quarterly*, *14*(4), 590-615.
- Vaill, P. B. (1989). Managing as a Performing Art: New ideas for a world of chaotic change (1st ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Valle, M. (1999). The new leader's work in public organizations. *Public Personnel Management*, 28(2), 245-257.
- Vesilind, P. J. (1997). Sri Lanka. *National Geographic*, 191(1), 111-134.



- Vroom, H. M., & Jansen, L. (1996). No other Gods: Christian belief in dialogue with Buddhism, Hinduism, and Islam: Wm. B. Eerdmans-Lightning Source.
- Wikramanayake, C. V. (2002, February 10). The Jews of old Ceylon. The Island, p. 54.
- Winkler, C. (2004, August 10). Religious freedom in Sri Lanka. Militant Buddhists are attacking Christian churches and threatening the freedom of religion in South Asia. *The Weekly Standard*, p. 126.
- Yukl, G. (1998). *Leadership in organizations* (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Zigarelli, M. A. (2002). Cultivating Christian character. Fairfax, VA: Xulon Press.



# How To Use This Form

This tool has been designed to help you grow in Christian character. You will receive the most accurate and useful results if you think carefully about each item and provide

Part 1: Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:

	Strongly Disagree		Disagree		Neither Agree nor Disagree		Agree		Strongly Agree
1. I am making a deliberate effort to grow in my relationship with God	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
2. I <u>am not</u> angry with God, myself or others	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
3. It is a priority for me to help people who have less in life than I do	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
4. My prayer life is limited to those times when I really need help	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
5. I am content with my life	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
6. I love my life	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
7. I enjoy giving away my money	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
8. Learning about others' pain is a valuable use of my time	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Strongly Disagree		Disagree		Neither Agree nor Disagree		Agree		Strongly Agree
9. It is easy for me to love other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
10. I am becoming the person that God wants me to be	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
11. I like who I am	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
12. I feel that my life has real purpose	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9



Part 2: Please indicate the extent to which each statement is true of you

	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometimes true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
14. When I am interrupted	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
by someone, I get annoyed 15. When I wake up in the morning, I find myself eagerly looking forward to the day	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
16. I am a gentle person	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
17. I think about how much God has blessed me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
18. I feel a strong compassion for those who do not have much in life	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
19. I smile a lot when I'm around other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometimes true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
20. I write in a journal or diary to reflect on my spiritual condition	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
21. I give thanks to God throughout my day	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
22. When another driver does something inconsiderate to me, I forgive that person quickly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
23. I patiently await God's answers	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
24. I enjoy helping others	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
25. I turn to God when making choices	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
26. When I get angry, I release that anger properly	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometimes true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
27. I look at things that I should not look at	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
28. I am a patient person	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
29. My actions show that I am grateful for the people in my life (family, friends,	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

	i								
co-workers, etc.)									
30. When someone has	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
wronged me, I avoid that									
person or give them the silent treatment									
31. I control my tongue in	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
my home	1	2	3	4	3	U	1	0	9
32. I find myself desiring	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
what other people have	1	_	3	•	5	O	,	O	,
33. When I hear	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
or read about some									
tragedy, my heart breaks									
for the victims									
	Never		Rarely		Sometimes		Often		Always true
	true of me		true of me		true of me		true of me		of me
34. When things go wrong,	1	2	3	4	5		7	8	0
I still have an inner	1	2	3	4	3	6	7	O	9
contentment									
35. I am a joyful person	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
36. I volunteer my time to	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
serve people outside my	1	_	3	•	3	O	,	O	
household									
37. I complain	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
38. I seek God's will	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
through prayer									
39. When in a group of	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
people, I tend to listen									
before speaking		•	2		_		_	0	0
40. When I have sinful	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
thoughts, I try to immediately clear them									
from my mind									
41. When I pray, I pray for	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
the poor	1	_	3		3	U	,	O	
	Never		Rarely		Sometimes		Often		Always true
	true of		true of		true of me		true of		of me
	me		me				me	_	
42. I forgive those who	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
hurt me 43. I wake up thinking	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
more about what I don't	1	2	3	4	5	O	7	0	9
have than what I do have									
44. I worry about the future	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
45. I do what I think God	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
wants me to do	1	<i>_</i>	3	-	3	J	,	0	,
46. During my day, I pray	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
five times or more									
		-					_		_
47. I get along well with	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
difficult people									
48. I am sarcastic in ways	1	2	3	Л	5	6	7	8	9
70. I am saicasuc III ways	1	7	3	4	J	6	1	0	9

that inight offend	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometim es true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
49. I thank God sincerely for my food at mealtime	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
50. When I am annoyed, I raise my voice	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
51. I get drunk	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
52. I am upset when my achievements are not recognized	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
53. I donate my time or money to help the needy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
54. I keep my composure even when people or circumstances irritate me	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
55. I am a forgiving person	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometime s true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
56. I give to others	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
expecting nothing in return 57. I enjoy buying gifts for other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
58. I act as if other people's needs are more important than my own	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
59. I feel burnt out	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
60. I celebrate life	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
61. I love God with all my heart	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
62. I control my tongue in public places	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
63. When I pray, I spend some of that prayer time thanking God	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
	Never true of me		Rarely true of me		Sometime s true of me		Often true of me		Always true of me
64. I worry about the suffering of other people	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
65. I feel forgiven	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

Part 3: Please provide some information about yourself. All information provided is strictly confidential.



that might offend

66. Your email address or other Please print clearly			1	
<ul><li>67. Your gender (circle one) M</li><li>68. Your race (circle one)</li></ul>	ale Female Black Whit	te Asjan	Hispanic	Other
69. The number of years you h			•	Other
70. Your age on your most rec	ent birthday			
71. Your Denomination (circle	one)			
<ol> <li>Anglican/Episcopalian</li> <li>Assembly of God specify)</li> <li>Baptist</li> </ol>	<ul><li>5. Methodist</li><li>6. Nazarene</li><li>7. Non-denomi</li></ul>	inational	9. Roman ( 10. Other (	
4. Lutheran	8. Presbyteria	n		
72. Your city, state, and country				
73. Please mark ONE: What par your life? The Ten Commandments Psalms and Proverbs The Gospels The Epistles (New Testam Other (please specify) I don't know None of the Bible is useful	ent letters of Paul a	nd others)	e the most us	eful for

74. Please mark all that apply: Which of the following has become a habit for you?



Prayer	Daily time of quiet seclusion from others						
Confession of sin	Study and reflection to know more about God						
Periodic fasting	Enjoying and celebrating life						
A simple lifestyle	Cheerfully serving others						
Daily worship of God	Attempting to submit to God's will						
Meditation to enter into Go	od's presence						
Receiving guidance from a	cniritual mentor or growth group						

Appendix B – Validity and Reliability Information for the CCII (Zigarelli, 2002)

#### **Summary:**

This information was compiled in November 2001 based on the information provided by the first 1000 respondents to the survey. We examined the responses to ascertain which scales are valid measures of the virtues we seek to measure in this instrument. We have discerned that there are nine defensible scales in the CCII. They are: Joy, Inner Peace, Patience & Gentleness, Kindness & Generosity, Faithfulness, Self-Control, Forgiveness, Gratitude, Compassion.

**Sample:** The sample demographics are as follows:

**Gender:** 55.0% Female

Race:

74.2% White, 16.2% Black, 2.9% Asian, 5.2% Hispanic, 1.5% Other Races

Average Age: 40.0

Average Number of Years as a Christian: 21.7

#### **Denomination:**

1.0% Anglican/Episcopalian, 20.7% Assembly of God, 18.9% Baptist, 0.9% Lutheran, 9.2% Methodist, 4.2% Nazarene, 24.4% Non-denominational, 2.4% Presbyterian, 5.9% Roman Catholic, 12.3% other denominations

### **Geographic:**

20.7% of the respondents reside in Virginia. Overall, the respondents come from 39 states and 20 countries (3.3% of the respondents are from outside the United States).

#### Validation Procedure

To validate the individual scales in the CCII, we used two approaches. First we used the traditional method of factor analysis to show uni-dimensionality combined with reliability analysis (Cronbach's alpha) to show that each set of items was correlated with one latent construct. Next we conducted a study that involved correlating CCII scores with the evaluations of close friends and relatives of the respondents. Both analyses are summarized below.

### Factor and Reliability Analysis:

For the factor analysis, we examined the Scree tests, factor loadings and eigenvalues to determine whether each scale had only one dimension. For the reliability analysis, we sought alphas at or near the 0.7 level, seeking higher alphas for scales that included more items. The results of this analysis were as follows:



# Joy (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.8663
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.684 to 0.870

### Inner Peace (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7572
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.411 to 0.764

### Patience & Gentleness (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7868
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.426 to 0.799

### Kindness & Generosity (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7553
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.570 to 0.750

# Faithfulness (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7915
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.441 to 0.804

### Self-Control (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.6645
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.302 to 0.679

### Forgiveness (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7033
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.456 to 0.811

### Gratitude (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7600
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.457 to 0.741

### Compassion (7 items)

- Alpha: 0.7860
- Factor analysis: All items loaded on one factor. Loadings ranged from 0.508 to 0.781



### Self-Other Evaluations:

For a preliminary test of construct validity, we distributed the CCII to a number of MBA students. Simultaneously, we provided them with a supplemental "Friends and Family Form" which they were to give to "the person who knows them best." The supplemental form is brief and simply asked the respondent "to what extent" the person they were rating was joyful, patient, faithful, etc. We were careful to define the terms for the respondents to maximize consistent use of the form across raters. The form is available for inspection by <a href="clicking here">clicking here</a>. Moreover, the entire process was anonymous. We used code numbers to link CCII forms with Friend and Family Forms, and the latter forms were mailed to us confidentially with the postage paid by the researcher.

We received complete data for 41 individuals. We then correlated the friend/family evaluations with the CCII scores. Despite the small sample size, the results indicated statistically significant correlations across all constructs, providing further evidence of the validity of the CCII.

The self-other correlations were as follows:

	Correlation	P- value
Joy	0.534	0.000
Inner Peace	0.339	0.030
Patience and Gentleness	0.377	0.015
Kindness and Generosity	0.475	0.002
Faithfulness	0.552	0.000
Self-Control	0.440	0.004
Forgiveness	0.274	0.083
Gratitude	0.397	0.010
Compassion	0.486	0.001



Appendix C – CCII (Zigarelli, 2002) Translation in Sinhalese (Items 1-65 only)

	ė	4	
	1		
1			

CODE

Group or Church Name\_



### CHRISTIAN CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT INDEX

#### HOW TO USE THIS FORM

This tool has been designed to help you grow in Christian character. You will receive the most accurate and useful results if you think carefully about each item and provide honest answers.

Please remember your CODE number at the top. We will return your confidential results to your Group or Chuch. All individual responses and results remain strictly confidential unless you choose to share them with others. Please clearly mark an "X" on your answer.

Part 1: Please indicate the extent to which you agree with the following statements:

	· X	තදීන්ම එකෙ නොවෙම්,		එපග නෙවෙවී		එකගවීමේ හා එකග කොට්මේ මධ සස්කය		එකග වෙමී,	18 G	කදින් එකුන වෙමි.
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
ı.	මම දෙවියන් වහන්සේ සමග ස්ථිර සම්බන්දයන් නියුනු නර ගන්න නියුනු උත්සාහන දරම්,	C	c		C		C	×	C	C
2.	මම දොඩ, මම, වෙනත් අධ සමග තරහත් කෑත.	X		C	-	g C -	C	C.	C	C
. ,	නැති මැරි අයට උපකාර කරන්න ජුිවුකත්වය දෙමි.	8.	C	C	C	C	C	X	C	C
	උපකර වලට පමනන් මා සාවිණ කරම්,	r	C	-	c.	-	0	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	C	×
	මගේ පිවිතය ගැන මම සෑබීමට පත්ව සිටීයි.	C		C	C	(	0	C	×	C
	මම මගේ පිටිකයට පේම කරම්	C	-	(	-	00	-	10	0	X
	මගේ වුදල් අනපුමට දී වෙන් සුසුට වෙමී.	C	C	·	C	C	C	0	C	×
. 7	අනපයන්ගේ වේදනාව දුප තේරුම් ගැනීම මා පිවිතේ වටිනා දෙයකි.	r	C	2	C	C	C	X	C	C
	අනාසන්ට පේල්ලිතිවීමට මට පහසුය.	C	X	0	C	r	C	C.80	C	10,68
0.	මම දොව වුවමනා පුද්ග යෙන් ලෙස වර්ධනය වෙමින් සිටීමී.	· _	r	C	2	C	C	X	C	C
1.	මා ගැන මා සැගීමට පත් වේ.			1	C	C	C	X	0	0
2.	මගේ ජීවීතේ සැමෑ අථක ඇති ඔව මට හැගේ.	C	×	C	C	-0	C	7,8	0	0
3.	මම දෞව සමග සැබෑ සම්බන්ධතාවයකින් සිටීම්		C	-	_	C	0	C	C	7



Part 2: Please indicate the extent to which each statement is true of you

ou will so see Ure most	ථා ලැන පනපටුජ් නොවේ	FORM	සහසටමු පටත්රමු	U DT W	සුවහර විට වැ කුළ සනාස්ති ටුපේ () bec		මෙනෙන් විට මානුල සහපයම්	<b>D</b>	හැම විට මා ගැන සනපසි
atawers Jeanen abivore	90 <b>,81</b> ,713,	1.020	1 por 3 x 11	1914 A	101 - 3 1 an	6	7	8	9
මගේ මුයාවනට, නථාවනට හෙ 4 යමෙන් මාදා නලෙන් මා නෝපයට පත්වේ.	YOUR CO.	myder Nic Sire	WebW 31.8th	ಎ೯ ಗ	TETT THE	p Wilson	omber vou nucir. dit u	e ce p of c	
මා උදෑසන අවදි වන්නේ ඉදිරි කලය භූක මලාපො– රොස්තු ඇබ්වය.	C acit elitin	C	C	C	C	c ij ejr	r be led c	~ F100	*
අනසයන් සමග මම මෘදු 6. පුද්ගලයෙනි.	•	C	٠,	•	* .	٢	-	٦	1 1
.7 දොව මට නොපමක ආශිර් වාද ඇක්දැධී මෙනෙහිනරයි.		r	7	•	r,\$30es	٢	×	٠	r
වරපුසාද අඩු අය ගැන දැඩි අනතම්පාවන් මා <b>අල</b> ඇති 18. වේ.		c	8	•	•		C	c	~
9 අනහයන් සමග ඇසුරු කිරි- මේදී බොහෝ සේ සිනාසේ	5	C	C	C	C	C	°C 86	0	×
ආත්මිත පිචිතය ගැන සිද්දි ල. ගැන චාර්ථා පොත් මට ඇත.	r	X	00	C	7 ×	(	C	(	~
1. දිනපතා ජීවිතයේ මම දෞඩ ට ස්කූති කරමි.	-	20	r	-	(	C	1	-	X
අනහ කෙනෙක් මගේ සැප– පතසුව නොසැලතුවොත් 22. මම ඔහුට සමාව දෙමි.	c.	-	1	C	0	r	C	+	A C
X 2		rl	171	121	1 2 3		1,858 3	50 G	5. co. c
3. මම ඉවසිලිවන්ත වෙම්.		) C	<b>PC</b>	7	24 7	۲	ge Cosso		0.0
4. මම අනාහ උපුනාරයෙන් සතුව වෙම්.		ar	×	r	4	r	G	Centr	2
5. වීරණ ගණ්නා චොහොතේ වී මට දෙ : ව නැමැත්ත සොඋට්	. +	r	C	c	ব	Ć.	6	90 8	5 × 8
මම <b>කෝප වුවද ඒඅයුරින්ම</b> <sup>6.</sup> මම එය පිට කරයි.	-	•	6	5	*	ان-		2 4 4 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	25 ESC (2)
7 දෙස මමු බල්ම.			5	5	<u>مر</u> د	رس	X000	යුදුම පුදුම	10. ecg
8. <del>වීම පුවසිලිවන්න නෙනෙනි.</del>	1	r	C	¢	<u> </u>	C	C V	SO G	*
මා සමීප අයට මගේ නාහසු බාවය පියාපලාපයෙ ඉ. මැනවින් පෙනිය සි.		ne	-	· c	4	r	10 G	මේවී ම ලම	i inc
සමෙන් මව වරදන් කල විව මට එම පුද්ගලයා සමග සම්බන්දය අනගරිමී.	. C	۴		7	· · · · ·	e	c	×	1

නිවස තුල මම මාගේ දිව පාලනය කර ගැම්මී, අනාගන්ගේ දේ වලට මම ආශා තරම්. යම් තේදවාවකයන් දැනගත් විට ඒගැන සම්බන්ද අය ගැන මාහට දුන ඇති වේ. මීවිතේ පැරදුම් හමුවේදී මා සැගීමට පත් වේ. මා පුඩුලේ පිටස්තර අයට සේවිට කිරීමට මම ස්වේවිවාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ.	c CX	2	3 C C	- 4 C C	5 C	6	7 ×	8 C	9
පාලනය කර ඉම්වී. අනාගේගේ දේ වලට මම ආශා කරම්. යම් කේදවාවකයක් දැනගත් විට ඒගැන සම්බන්ද අය ගැන මාහට දුන ඇති වේ. මීව්තේ පැරදුම් හමුවේදී මා සැගීමට පත් වේ. මා පුමුලේ පිටස්කර අයට සේවය කිරීමට මම ස්වේට්වාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ. මමහැමදේම වැරදි දකියී.	ς χ · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	c	c ×		с К	ر ر	C ,	C	
අනාග්ගේ දේ වලට මම ආසා තරම්. යම් තේදවාවකයන් දැනගත් විට ඒහැන සම්බන්ද අය හැන මාහට දුන ඇති වේ. මීව්තේ පැරදුම් හමුවේදී මා සැගිමට පත් වේ. මා පිහිටේ පිටක්තර අයට සේවය කිරීමට මම ස්වේථවාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ.	C C	C	× c	C	r	c	6255	asa ka	d'a 6
විට ඒතැන සමබන්ද අය තැන මාතට දුන ඇති වේ. මීවිතේ පැරදුම් හමුවේදී මා සැතිමට පත් වේ. මා පුහුලේ පිටස්තර අයට සේවය කිරීමට මම ස්වේට්වාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ. ම්මතැමදේම වැරදි දකියි.	c CX	c	c	(	×	C	· ·		x o
සැගීමට පන් වේ. මා පිහිමන් නෙනෙනි. මා පවුලේ පිටස්තර අයට සේවය කිරීමට මම ස්වේට්වාචෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ. මමතැමදේම වැරදි දකියි.	c X	C		_		C	2	- <b>J</b>	1000 14
මා පවුලේ පිටස්කර අයට සේවය කිරීමට මම ස්වේවීවාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ. ම්මකුමදේම වැරදි දකියී.	CX	•		~	¢	C	X	-	<b>°</b> ,50
සේවය් කිරීමට මම ස්වේච්චාවෙන් ඉදිරිපත්වේ. මමතැමදේම වැරදි දකියි.		•	T. O.T.		1 2	1990	-	W. 11	1,750
ම්මකැමදේම වැරදි දකියි.			×	۲	٠	<b>P</b>	,2300	9 <b>65%</b> 6	රිණිය ය
20-20	C 7	r	e	X	¢	٦	<b>36</b> 3	of a	6
ැමැත්ත සොයසි. 🤯	<b>C</b> 3	C	· C	5	253	•	X.	GON G	C.
වල්හයන් අතරේ වා නනා නිරීමට පුනුමයෙන්	ر	۲	r	5		۲.,	ක්රිසේ : විදෙන	io	*
ා තුල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සිහින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමි.	C	<u> </u>	c	è	*;	• 7	Najo Č	ි රෝ <b>ර</b> රෝද <sub>්</sub>	c
සිහිපන් නරම්.	r 1	•	• 6	*	747	٢٦	<del></del>	*	r
යට සමාව දෙමි. 📉	۲.	n	) r	*	747	67	<b>\$5</b> to	X	E 6 35
දෑසකම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතන්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය.	c	K	c	*	74 7	r).	୍ରତ୍ତି	(n - 3)	
නාගපය හැන සින්නැවුල් වේ.	.00	*	X	۴	¢	٢	r	ده جد	<i>(</i> 44)
a et en 200.	603	r	C	×	76 7	67	F 34.	*	2
නතට 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට අඩි ගනනක් යාවිණ කරම්.	×	c	c	c		c	r	•	r
ැසුරු නිරීමට අමාරු අය විද මට සිටිය නැත.	C	C	۲	•	火	r	٢	č	C
ාගේ වචන හා සුියා කුලින් වුන් සිත්තැවුලට ලක් වේ.	-	C	c	r	c	^	X	^	c
ානාර ගැනීමේදී එව චංතව දෙව්:ව ට තුති කරමි.	C	۲`,	r	Ċ	•	c	r		×
	තවසෙව තුලින් මීම දෙ: ව ලිවැත්ත සොයයි. මෙතයන් පනරේ මා නතා නිරීමට පුතමයෙන් වා තොදින් ඇඹුම්නම් දෙයි වා තල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සිතින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමී. තවතේ නරම විට දිලින්දන් සිතිපත් නරමී. වෙ වේදනාවට පත් නල යට සමාව දෙවී. දැසනම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතන්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාගනය හැන සිත්තැවුල් වේ ද: ව මඟෙන් බලාපොරොන න දේ මම නරමී. කතට 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට ලබ් ගනනත් සාවිකා තරමි. සුයරු නිරීමට අමාරු අය වද මට සිටිය හැන. මගේ වචන හා සියා කුලින් වන සිටිය හැන.	මමහැමදේම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනවේ කුලින් මීම දෙ: ව ලැග්ත්ත සොගයි. මෙනගන් අතරේ මා නහා කිරීමට පුතමයෙන් වා හොදින් ඇහුම්නම් දෙයි. වා නල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සිහින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමි. වමත තරන විට දිලින්දන් සිහිපත් තරමි. වෙ වේදනාවට පත් තල යට සමාව දෙමි. දැසනම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතත්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාහනය හැන සිත්තැවුල් වේ. ි ද: ව මහෙන් මලාපොරොකු න දේ මම තරමි. කතර 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට ලබ් ගනනත් යාම්කා තරමි. සුයරු නිරීමට අමාරු අය විද මට සිටිය හැන. මගේ වචන හා සියා කුලින් වනව දෙවිදව ලක් වේ.	මෙනැමදෙම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනැමදෙම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනැමදෙම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනැමද කරන් මම දෙ: ව දැත්ත සොයයි. වෙනැන් අතරේ මා කතා කිරීමට පුකමයෙන් වා හොදින් ඇතුම්කම් දෙයි. වා ලෙ පාපය ඇතිවන විට වා මාගේ සිනින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරම. වෙනැත්තන් කරමි. වෙම වේදනාවට පත් කල යට සමාව දෙමී. දැසානම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතන්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාහනය හැන සින්නැවුල් වේ. ි ද: ව මහෙන් බලාපොරොතු න දේ මම කරමි. කතට 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට වේ ගනතත් සාවික කරමි.	මමහැමදේම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනතව කුලින් මම දෙ: ව ලවැග්ත සොයයි. මෙනතේ අතරේ මා කතා කිරීමට පුකමයෙන් වා හොඳින් ඇතුම්කම් දෙයි. වා කල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සිතින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමි. මෙන තරන විට දිලින්දන් සිතිපත් කරමි. මව වේදනාවට පත් කල යට සමාව දෙමි. දැකාම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතත්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාහනය හැන සිත්තැවුල් වේ. ි ද: ව මහෙන් බලාපොරොතු න දේ මම කරමි. කතට 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට ලබ ගැනිමේද මම වන සිටිය හැන. මගේ වචන හා සියා කුලින් වන සිටිය හැන.	මෙනැමදෙම වැරදි දකියි. වෙනසාව කුරින් මීම දෙ: ව දැත්ත සොයයි. මෙනයන් අතුමෙන්ම දෙයි. ව තුල පාපය ඇතිවන විට වා මහගේ සිනින් දවන් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමි. මෙන තරන විට දිලින්දන් සිහිජන් කරමි. මෙට වේදනාවට පත් කල යට සමාව දෙමි. දැසානම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතන්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නානෙය හැන සිත්තැවුල් වේ. ි	මමතුමදේම වැරදි දකිටී. විවසටව කුලින් මීම දෙ: ව වෙත්න සොගයි. මමතයන් අතරේ මා නතා කිරීමට පුනමයෙන් වා හෙරදින් ඇහුමිනම් දෙයි. වා නල සාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සියින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමි. වඩ වේදනාවට පත් නල සට සමාව දෙමි. දැකම අවදි වූ විට මා ට මතන්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාගනය හැන සින්නැවල් වේ. ි ද: ව මගෙන් මලාපෙනරොතු ක දේ මම නරමි. කානට 5 වරක් හෝ ඊට වී ගැනනන් යාවිකා නරමි. සුරු තිරීමට අමාරු අය වන හා මුයා තුලින් වන් සින්නැවලට ලත් වේ.	මමතැමදේව වැරදි දකියි. වෙනව තුලින් මම දෙ: ව ලැග්ත සොයයි. මමතයන් අනරේ මා කතා කිරීමට පුතමයෙන් වා හොදින් ඇතුම්නම් දෙයි. වා කුල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා මාගේ සිතින් ඉවත් රීමට උත්සාහ දරමී. වමත තරන විට දිලින්දන් සිතිපත් කරමී. වෙ වේදනාවට පත් කල යට සමාව දෙමී. දැසානම අවදි වූ විට මා ව මතත්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. නාගනය හැන සිත්තැවල් වේ. ි ද: ව මතෙන් මලාපොරොතු ක දේ මම කරම. කතර 5 වරක් හෝ රට වී ගනනත් යාවිතා කරමි. සිතුරු කිරීමට අමාරු අය වද මට සිටිය හැන. වගේ වවන හා නියා තුලින් වන් සිත්තැවලට ලක් වේ.	මමකැමදේව වැරදි දකියි. මානුව කුලක් මම දෙ: වි ලේක්ක සොරෙයි. මානුවක් අතරේ වා කතා කිරීමට පුකමයෙක් වා හොදින් ඇතුම්කම් දෙසි. මා කුල පාපය ඇතිවන විව වා එහේ සියින් ඉවත් සිම්පා කරන විව දිලික්දක් සිතිප් කරමි. මව වේදිකාවට පත් කල යට පමාව දෙම. දැසකම අවදි වූ විට වා ව මතත්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලට වඩා නැති දෙවල්ය. කාගපය හැන සිත්තැවුල් වේ. උ ඉදු	මමතැමදේව වැරදි දකිසි. වෙනත් කුමත් මම දෙ: වි වෙනත් කෙරෙයි. මමතයක් අතරේ වා කාර කිරීමට පුකමයෙක් වා හොදන් ඇතුම්තම දෙයි. වා තුල පහය ඇතුම්තම දෙයි. වා මමත් සිසින් ඉවත් රීමට උස්සාහ දරවී. මමත කරන විට දිලින්දන් සිසින් කරමි. වා මෙදිනාවට පත් කල යට පමාව දෙවී. දැසකම අවදි වූ විට මා ට වනත්වන්නේ ඇති දේ ලේ වඩා නැති දේවල්ය. කාහසනය හැන සිස්තැවුල් වේ. ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි ි

		වා ගැන සතුහයන් නොවේ		මදකිට මා කැන සහපයිම්		සමහර විව මා ගැන සනසස්ති.	මේ මෙනේ විට මාතුන සනයන්		2367	තැම විට වාහැන සනසයන්
		1	2	3	- 4	5	6	7	8	9
50.	මව නෝපයට පන්වූව්ට ඉතා සැරෙන් නතා නරයි.	0	C	0	_	×	0	C	C	-
51.	ම්ම සුරාපානය නරම්.	X	C	0	_	C	CX	C	-	1
	මා හැනියාවන් නොසලනා හැරිමෙන් මම අපහසුවට පත්වේ.	6	C	X	c	XC -	0	C	C	
53.	ද්ලීදුන්ට උපනාර කිරීමට ම කාල්ය හා මුදල් වැය කරම්,	0 0	C	×			-	& 335s	6	o o Goga
54.	යම් දේකට කෝපාවිශ්ට වූ විට මම ඉවසිලි යන්න වෙමි.		C	-	(	×	C 5	C	C	C
55.	මා සමාව දෙන තෙනෙනි.	00		1	0	XC	X	· C	-	C
	යම් දෙයක් නැවත බලාපෙන රොත්තුවෙන් කොරව අනසය -ට උපකාර කරම්.		C	C	C	×	0	C	C	C
57.	අනහයක් තැගි ගැනීමෙන් ම සතුටුවෙමි.	) E	C	1	C	1	C	×	·	C (6)
58.	අනහයන් ගේ අවශානාවයන් මා දේවලට වඩා සලනම්.	C 3	C	X	0		1	0 C	C	C
59.	සියල්ල කිෂ්පල ඔව දැකේ.	×	C	10	C	-	10	C	C	C
60.	මා පීච්තය සුන්දරය.			C	0	1	X	1	1	-
51.	මා දෙ:ව මා මුලු සදවති ජේම කරම්.	-	_	-	C	200	Co	C	C	X
52.	පුසිද්ද හැන් වල මා දිව පාලනය තර ශුනිසි.	0	_	-	C	200	-	8	C	C
	යාවිකාවේ දී එතුනි නිරීමට නාලයන් ඇත.	.00	C	C	C	7	C 1	0	r	C
54.	වේදන විදින අය ගැන මා තරදර වීමට සිතෙයි.	0	C	C	·	1	C	C 58	C	· C
55	මට සමාව ලැබුනු ඔව මට හැගෙයි.	00		1	X	200	0	×	C	C



Appendix D – Map of Sri Lanka with Area of Sample Shaded

